THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2017-000163

---

**RECEIVED**  
APR 27 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Henry Pressley,.....Respondent,

v.

Eric Sanders,.....Appellant.

---

**INITIAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

R. Hawthorne Barrett  
Richard A. Jones, III  
Turner Padget Graham & Laney P.A.  
P.O. Box 1473  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 254-2200  
[TBarrett@TurnerPadget.com](mailto:TBarrett@TurnerPadget.com)  
[TJones@TurnerPadget.com](mailto:TJones@TurnerPadget.com)

Attorneys for the Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in granting a new trial *nisi additur* where the Appellant challenged the nature and extent of the Respondent's claimed injuries and there was substantial evidence to support the jury's verdict?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Eric Sanders ("Sanders") appeals the trial court's improper decision to disturb the valid and reasonable verdict that a jury returned after a full and fair trial in a minor wreck case. This case arises from an automobile accident that occurred at the intersection of I-77 and Garners Ferry Road in Columbia, SC, on February 16, 2015. The Respondent Henry Pressley ("Pressley") claims to have sustained physical injuries as a result of that accident, and he filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County on August 3, 2015. Sanders filed and served a timely Answer on September 10, 2015.

After a full period of discovery and an unsuccessful mediation, the case was called to trial before the Honorable L. Casey Manning on October 11, 2016. At the opening of the trial, counsel for Sanders admitted fault for the accident, but denied Pressley was entitled to all the damages he was claiming. During the course of the two-day trial, the jury heard testimony from Pressley and Sanders, as well as deposition testimony by a doctor who treated Pressley. Pressley presented medical and chiropractic bills totaling \$9,658. He did not offer evidence of lost wages or any other special damages. Counsel for Pressley challenged at least half of the bills based on the overall evidence and an argument that the treatments leading to those bills were not reasonable and necessary under the circumstances.

On October 12, 2016, after deliberating for approximately an hour-and-a-half, the jury returned a verdict of \$9,888.00. [Trial Transcript, pp. 198-99.] Although it had not been asked to do so, the jury broke down its verdict into two component parts: medical expenses of \$4,888.00 and \$5,000 for “pain and suffering.” [Id.] When the trial judge asked if the jury intended for both parts to combine for a total verdict of \$9,888.00, the foreperson responded affirmatively. [Id.]

After the trial judge effectively invited Pressley to do so, Pressley filed a Motion for a New Trial Absolute or in the Alternative for a New Trial *Nisi Additur* on October 24, 2016. [Motion.] The trial judge granted that motion in an Order signed on January 10, 2017. [Order.] Although the Order was styled an “Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for a New Trial Absolute or in the Alternative for a New Trial *Nisi Additur*,” the judge did not address or grant Pressley’s request for a new trial absolute. [Order.] The judge granted only a new trial *nisi additur*, adding \$10,000 to the jury’s original verdict. [Order.] Counsel for Sanders received a copy of the Order on January 11, 2017, and filed and served a timely Notice of Appeal on January 27, 2017.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On the morning of February 16, 2015, sixty-nine-year-old Pressley was stopped in his vehicle at a stop sign, waiting to merge onto Garners Ferry Road from the exit ramp of I-77. [Trial Transcript, pp. 53, 62.] Sanders drove his vehicle down the same exit ramp and stopped just behind Pressley’s truck. [Trial Transcript, p. 151.] Sanders looked to his left to check the flow of traffic on Garners Ferry Road and then turned his attention back to the vehicle in front of him. [Trial Transcript, p. 151.] He saw the brake lights in that vehicle go off and assumed the driver was preparing to proceed onto Garners Ferry

Road. [Trial Transcript, p. 151.] Sanders again looked to his left to check traffic and then took his foot off his brake, thinking the vehicle ahead of his had entered the roadway. [Trial Transcript, pp. 151-52.] Unfortunately, Pressley had not moved his vehicle, and a minor collision occurred. [Trial Transcript, p. 152.]

The accident resulted in light damage to the front of Sanders' vehicle and the rear trailer hitch of Pressley's. [Trial Transcript, pp. 81, 152.] Pressley's airbag did not deploy. [Trial Transcript, p. 80.] Both Sanders and Pressley were able to drive their vehicles away after the investigating police officer released them. [Trial Transcript, pp. 64, 80-81.]

Pressley did not request an ambulance at the accident scene. [Trial Transcript, pp. 64, 81.] Later that day, he went on his own to a local emergency room to get checked out. [Trial Transcript, p. 99.] The ER staff took an x-ray of his back, which revealed no fracture or other traumatic injury. [Trial Transcript, p. 100.] The ER doctor did not recommend any follow-up care or refer Pressley to any other medical provider. [Trial Transcript, p. 82.]

The next day, Pressley consulted with an attorney who referred him to a chiropractor. [Trial Transcript, p. 82.] Pressley treated with that chiropractor for roughly three weeks. [Trial Transcript, pp. 67, 105.] During that course of treatment, Pressley underwent an MRI of his lumbar spine, which did not reveal any traumatic injuries. [Trial Transcript, pp. 105-08.] On March 15, 2015, the chiropractor released Pressley, noting that he was able to return to normal activities of daily living. [Trial Transcript, p. 105.]

Pressley did not receive any further treatments until more than a month later, when he visited his family doctor complaining of neck pain that had developed “over the past five days.” [Trial Transcript, p. 110, line 10.] The doctor prescribed a pain medication and a muscle relaxer and recommended stretching exercises. [Trial Transcript, p. 110.] The record contains no evidence that the doctor referred Pressley to any other provider.

Almost another full month passed before Pressley sought any further treatment. [Trial Transcript, p. 111.] This time, Pressley’s attorney referred him to Dr. Zgleszweski at Palmetto Spine and Sports Medicine. [Trial Transcript, p. 73.] Dr. Zgleszweski performed a “left sacroiliac joint injection” on May 21, 2106. [Trial Transcript, p. 116.] The injection was a diagnostic tool used to determine potential causes of Pressley’s pain complaints. [Trial Transcript, pp. 115-16.] Dr. Zgleszweski described the injection as feeling like a “big bee sting.” [Trial Transcript, p.119, line 6.] As a result of that test, Dr. Zgleszweski recommended further procedures for Pressley’s neck and back, but Pressley declined those treatments. [Trial Transcript, pp. 121-24.]

At his final visit with Dr. Zgleszweski, Pressley stated that he no longer had any pain in his neck or back. [Trial Transcript, p. 123.] Pressley further stated that he was “pretty much doing his activities of daily living without pain” and that “medication was no longer required.” [Trial Transcript, p.123, lines 13-16.] That visit occurred on June 9, 2015. [Trial Transcript, p.123.] Pressley did not seek any other medical treatments after that date, other than to request medications from his family doctor. [Trial Transcript, pp. 75-76.]

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has explained the standard of review in cases involving the granting of a new trial *nisi additur* in the following terms:

When the jury's verdict is inadequate or excessive, the trial judge has the discretionary power to grant a new trial nisi. . . . Compelling reasons, however, must be given to justify invading the jury's province in this manner. . . . The grant or denial of a motion for a new trial nisi rests within the discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless his findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by an error of law. . . . Yet, such discretion is not absolute. . . . This Court has the duty to review the record and determine whether there has been an abuse of discretion amounting to an error or law.

*Waring v. Johnson*, 341 S.C. 248, 256-57, 533 S.E.2d 906, 910-11 (Ct. App. 2000) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). Furthermore, “[t]he jury’s determination of damages . . . is entitled to substantial deference.” *Harrison v. Bevilacqua*, 354 S.C. 129, 140, 580 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2003). Thus, this Court has not only the power, but also the duty to reverse a trial court’s decision to grant a new trial nisi additur when an abuse of discretion exists because there are no compelling reasons to disturb the jury’s original verdict.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in disturbing the jury’s verdict because Sanders challenged the extent of Pressley’s claimed damages and there was more than sufficient evidence to support the verdict.**

Contrary to the trial judge’s conclusions, there were no compelling reasons to alter the jury’s verdict. Although the judge attempted to state such reasons, they do not withstand scrutiny when considered in the context of the entire record. Indeed, the record demonstrates that the stated reasons are simply not accurate. Furthermore, there is ample

evidence to support the jury's verdict, and there is case law directly on-point that supports this appeal. For all of these reasons, this Court should reverse the Order and reinstate the jury's proper, original verdict.

**I. The trial judge failed to present any "compelling reasons" to change the jury's verdict.**

All of the purportedly "compelling" reasons listed by the trial judge appear on the second page of the Order. Essentially, those cited reasons are the following: (1) Pressley submitted "undisputed" medical bills of \$9,658.00; (2) Dr. Zgleszweski gave an "undisputed" opinion that all medical treatments stemmed from the accident; and (3) "[Pressley] suffered great pain as a result of the accident." [Order, p. 3.] A review of the evidence and arguments presented at trial demonstrates that these stated reasons are untenable.

**(A) The medical bills were not "undisputed."**

The medical bills Pressley presented at trial were not "undisputed" in the sense the Order implies. Those bills were only "undisputed" in the sense that no one argued that the bills were not genuine records or that they did not add up to the sum claimed by Pressley. But Sanders most certainly did challenge the reasonableness and necessity of the majority of the bills. Sanders' trial counsel raised this argument to the jury, relying on several facts that came into evidence without objection or contradiction from Pressley. As discussed below, this created an issue for the jury to resolve as it saw fit, without interference from the bench.

The trial judge appears to have based his decision on a belief that Pressley was entitled to recover all of the medical bills he presented at trial. To the extent this was the trial judge's underlying rationale, it constituted an error of law. A plaintiff in a personal

injury action is only entitled to recover for medical expenses that were: (1) proximately caused by the defendant's negligence, and (2) reasonable and necessary under the circumstances. *Todd v. Joyner*, 376 S.C. 114, 654 S.E.2d 862 (Ct. App. 2007). As with the other elements of a negligence claim, the plaintiff must present evidence to support the reasonableness and necessity of the claimed medical expenses. *Id.* Assuming the plaintiff offers such evidence, the jury must determine whether or not it is sufficient to warrant the inclusion of those expenses in the overall award. *Id.* Significantly, though, the jury is not obligated to accept all of the expenses claimed by the plaintiff. If the jury does not believe certain medical expenses were reasonable or necessary under the circumstances, it is free to reject them. *See Steele v. Dillard*, 327 S.C. 340, 343-44, 486 S.E.2d 278, 280 (Ct. App. 1997) ("even if we accept [the plaintiff's] argument that the evidence shows he had at least \$8,000.62 in uncontradicted damages, the jury was simply not required to believe that evidence.").

This is precisely what happened in the present case. Pressley submitted medical bills totaling \$9,658.00. Sanders did not seriously challenge the bills for treatments that occurred shortly after the accident (i.e. the ER visit, the chiropractic treatments), which accounted for about half of the total costs. However, Sanders strongly disputed the reasonableness and necessity of the other half of the bills, which came from Pressley's treatments with Dr. Zgleszweski. Sanders argued that none of the previous doctors or chiropractors referred Pressley to Dr. Zgleszweski; the referral came, instead, from his attorney. Sanders also relied on the length of time that passed between the chiropractor releasing Pressley with no limitations and his first visit with Dr. Zgleszweski. Based on those facts, and the evidence as a whole, Sanders contended the jury should not award

any of the bills from Dr. Zgleszweski. Thus, a jury question existed as to whether or not Pressley should receive compensation for those bills.

This dispute created different options for the jury to consider. If it believed all of Pressley's treatments were reasonable and necessary, the jury could render a verdict based on medical bills of \$9,658. But if the jury concluded the treatment with Dr. Zgleszweski was not reasonable and necessary, its verdict would include medical bills totaling only half that amount. Therefore, the size of the resulting verdict depended greatly upon how the jury decided the issue of whether or not Dr. Zgleszweski's bills were properly recoverable. Making that decision was the province of the jury, not the trial judge.

Ultimately, the jury awarded Luchok \$9,888.00. Although this amount might arguably appear low if all the medical bills are considered, it is actually rather generous if they are not. The verdict was a little more than twice the amount of the non- Zgleszweski medical bills. Given the low-level impact of the accident and the moderate reputation of the trial venue, this was more than an adequate verdict if the jury sided with Sanders on the disputed treatments, which it plainly did.

In most cases, the jury's reasoning remains a mystery. Here, however, the jury plainly stated the amount it awarded for medical bills and the amount it gave for pain and suffering. [Trial Transcript, pp. 198-99.] The medical bills award matches up almost precisely with the total costs of the non-challenged treatments. Accordingly, there can be little doubt, if any, that the jury accepted Sanders' position that Pressley was not entitled to receive compensation for Dr. Zgleszweski's bills.

The trial judge failed to acknowledge the existence of this crucial jury issue in the Order granting Pressley's motion. Instead, the trial judge stated that there was no dispute as to the claimed medical bills. As the discussion above demonstrates, that statement is inaccurate because Sanders did challenge roughly half of those bills. Thus, the total amount of the medical bills does not constitute a compelling reason for the trial judge to change the jury's verdict.

(B) The jury was not required to accept Dr. Zgleszweski's opinions.

The trial judge concluded additur was warranted in part because Dr. Zgleszweski "gave an undisputed opinion that the injuries, pain, and subsequent treatment were related to the collision." [Order, p. 2.] This statement is also not entirely accurate, as Dr. Zgleszweski acknowledged that Pressley's age and forty years of work as a brick mason could have caused degenerative joint disease and resulting pain. [Trial Transcript, p. 145.] Thus, the opinion was not as unequivocal as the Order makes it appear.

Nevertheless, even if the opinion was rock-solid, the jury was not required to accept it. See, e.g., *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 563, 658 S.E.2d 80, 89-90 (2003) ("That a witness has been qualified as an expert does not mean that the witness's credibility and the accuracy of his conclusions are beyond reproach."); *State v. Milian-Hernandez*, 287 S.C. 185, 186, 336 S.E.2d 476, 478 (1985) ("A jury may properly disregard expert testimony."). This is true even if the opinion stated by the expert is not contradicted. See, e.g., *Terwilliger v. Marion*, 222 S.C. 185, 188, 72 S.E.2d 165, 166 (1952) (the fact that testimony is not directly contradicted does not make it undisputed because questions remain as to the believability of the testimony and the credibility of the witness); *Ross v. Paddy*, 340 S.C. 428, 434, 532 S.E.2d 612, 615 (Ct.

App. 2000) (“Even where the evidence is uncontradicted, the jury may believe all, some, or none of the testimony.”). *See also Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448, 466, 494 S.E.2d 835, 844 (Ct. App. 1997) (“In a law case tried before a jury, it is the jury that must decide what part of a witness’s testimony it wants to believe and what part it wants to disbelieve.”).

The Order suggests that the jury was required to give credence to Dr. Zgleszweski’s opinion on causation (as well as the reasonableness and necessity of the treatment) simply because no witness contradicted that opinion. As the authorities cited above demonstrate, however, that is not the law of South Carolina. Thus, this portion of the Order was controlled by an error of law.<sup>1</sup> It necessarily follows that the trial judge abused his discretion in citing Dr. Zgleszweski’s opinion in and of itself as a “compelling reason” for granting additur.

(C) The jury compensated Pressley for pain and suffering.

The Order also concludes the verdict was inadequate because Pressley “suffered great pain as a result of the accident.” [Order, p. 2.] For the following reasons, this also failed to establish any “compelling” basis for disregarding the jury’s verdict.

First, the evidence presented at trial supported more than one inference or conclusion about the relative severity of Pressley’s pain. Although Pressley claimed that he experienced pain, the record also demonstrated that he twice went approximately a month without seeking any medical treatments. [Trial Transcript, pp. 100-111.] Pressley

---

<sup>1</sup> It is odd that the Order contained this legal error because the trial judge’s charge explicitly acknowledged the extent of the jury’s discretion in deciding what testimony to accept or reject. *See* Trial Transcript, p. 190, lines 22-23 (“[Y]ou can believe as much or as little of the witnesses’ testimony as you deem proper.”); p. 196, lines 3-4 (“[Y]ou do not have to accept the expert’s opinion even though it comes from an expert.”). In other words, the jury charge contained the correct law, whereas the Order did not.

further claimed that pain prevented him from working anymore, but he claimed no lost wages and received a “zero” impairment rating from Dr. Zgleszweski. [Trial Transcript, pp. 73, 146.] He also reported having little or no pain, both to the chiropractor and to Dr. Zgleszweski. [Trial Transcript, pp. 104-05, 121-23.] Taken as a whole, this evidence created a dispute as to whether and to what extent Pressley experienced pain after the accident, let alone “great” pain. Pressley’s self-serving testimony on this point was not dispositive, as the Order implies.

Second, assuming Pressley did experience pain, the cause of that pain was an issue for the jury to decide. The evidence demonstrated that Pressley had degenerative joint disease that could have caused him to experience back and/or neck pain. [Trial Transcript, pp. 106-09, 145-46.] In addition, Pressley worked as a brick mason for forty years before the accident. [Trial Transcript, pp. 54-55.] As Dr. Zgleszweski acknowledged, that work could have caused or contributed to any pain Pressley was having. [Trial Transcript, p. 145.] This evidence created a basis for the jury to conclude that the accident did not necessarily cause all of Pressley’s claimed pain.

Third, notwithstanding the points discussed above, there is no dispute that the jury actually awarded Pressley an amount for pain and suffering. The jury expressly included an award of \$5,000 in its verdict for that element of damages. Thus, the trial judge cannot possibly have concluded that the jury failed to compensate Pressley for the pain he allegedly experienced. Instead, the judge simply disagreed with the amount of that award. This distinction is significant because “the amount of damages for physical pain and suffering and for mental pain and suffering is incapable of exact measurement and is therefore left for determination by the jury.” *Mims v. Florence Co. Ambulance Service*

*Comm'n*, 296 S.C. 4, 7, 370 S.E.2d 96, 99 (Ct. App. 1988). Here, the jury considered all the evidence and gave Pressley an amount it believed fairly compensated him for pain and suffering. The jury's decision was entitled to great deference, and the trial judge did not provide any "compelling reasons" for rejecting it.

(D) Conclusion

The reasons listed in the Order do not justify the decision to disturb the jury's verdict. Those stated reasons are not accurate when the entire record is considered (as it must be), and they are certainly not "compelling." Therefore, the trial judge erred in granting Pressley's motion, and this Court should reverse and reinstate the jury's original verdict.

**II. Substantial evidence supports the jury's verdict.**

According to the Order, "[t]he jury verdict was inadequate based upon the evidence and testimony that was presented at trial." [Order, p. 2.] This statement amounts to a conclusion that the record does not contain evidence upon which a reasonable jury could have based its original verdict. As briefly discussed above, however, there is ample evidence to support that verdict. This fact is significant because it further demonstrates the absence of any compelling reason to alter the decision the jury reached.

The accident giving rise to this case was a low-impact collision. [Trial Transcript, p. 152.] The airbag in Pressley's vehicle did not deploy, and both parties were able to drive their respective vehicles away from the scene. [Trial Transcript, pp. 80.] Pressley did not request an ambulance or any other medical attention at the scene. [Trial Transcript, pp. 64, 80-81.]

When Pressley later went to the ER on his own, the x-rays were negative for any traumatic injuries, and the doctor did not refer him to any other providers for additional or future care. [Trial Transcript, pp. 82, 100-01.] The only such referral came from Pressley's attorney, whom he saw the next day. [Trial Transcript, p. 82.] The attorney sent Pressley to a chiropractor, who treated him for a little over three weeks before releasing him with reports of significant improvement. [Trial Transcript, p. 105.]

After that Pressley went more than a month without seeking or receiving any additional medical care. He then went to see his family doctor, who gave him prescriptions and recommended stretching exercises. [Trial Transcript, pp. 68-70, 110-11.] The family doctor did not refer Pressley to another doctor or specialist. [Trial Transcript, pp. 73, 85.] Again, that recommendation came only from Pressley's attorney and only after almost another full month had passed. [Trial Transcript, p. 85.]

Pressley first saw the new doctor (Dr. Zgleszweski) some three months after the accident. Dr. Zgleszweski performed a diagnostic test and then, based on the results, recommended two procedures. [Trial Transcript, pp. 116-22.] But Pressley declined any further treatment, and Dr. Zgleszweski released him with a "zero" impairment rating. [Trial Transcript, pp. 123-24, 146.] The record contains no evidence that Pressley received any other medical treatments after that.

The bills from Dr. Zgleszweski accounted for roughly half of the total medical expenses presented at trial (\$9,658). If Dr. Zgleszweski's bills are subtracted from the total, the remaining bills are less than \$5,000. Sanders challenged the reasonableness and necessity of the treatment with Dr. Zgleszweski, as well as any causal link between that treatment and the accident, as opposed to Pressley's degenerative condition and/or his

forty years of working as a brick mason. Thus, under Sanders' theory of the case, the relevant, recoverable medical bills were much lower than the total that Pressley presented.

The original verdict gave Pressley \$4,888 for his medical bills and \$5,000 for pain and suffering, for a total of \$9,888. The evidence discussed above amply supports that amount. The jury clearly concluded that the treatment with Dr. Zgleszweski was either not reasonable and necessary, or was not causally related to the accident. The jury further determined that Pressley experienced some pain and suffering, but that \$5,000 was fair compensation for it. The jury was well within its rights to reach both of those decisions.

This case involved a low-impact wreck with minimal damage to the vehicles and no serious, quantifiable injuries to Pressley. He experienced some pain in the few weeks immediately following the accident, but it resolved after an initial ER visit and some treatments with a chiropractor. After that, Pressley did not seek any medical treatments for almost a month before his attorney sent him to a new doctor, who doubled the total medical bills in only three visits, before releasing Pressley with a "zero" impairment rating.

The preceding paragraph is not Pressley's version of the events, of course, but that is irrelevant for present purposes. What matters is that Sanders made this argument to the jury, and the record supports it. Consequently, the jury was entitled to accept Sanders' position and return a commensurate verdict. That verdict obviously disappointed Pressley and might also have been below what the trial judge expected to see. But such disappointment and surprise did not justify altering a verdict that had a

firm basis in the record. As long as the record supported the jury's decision, as it clearly did here – the trial court should not have substituted its opinion for that of the jury on a factual dispute. See *Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 455 S.E.2d 690 (1995); *State v. Garrett*, 350 S.C. 613, 567 S.E.2d 523 (Ct. App. 2002). Therefore, the trial judge abused his discretion in granting additur, and this Court should reverse and reinstate the original verdict.

**III. Case law directly on point supports Sanders' position.**

On at least two occasions, this Court has reversed decisions to grant new trials *nisi additur* in scenarios that were remarkably similar to the case at bar. An analysis of those cases and other analogous decisions demonstrates that the trial judge committed reversible error and that this Court should reverse.

In *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 590 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2003), the plaintiff alleged she sustained injuries as a result of a minor automobile accident. The defendant admitted fault for the accident at trial, but disputed the amounts and extent of some of the medical treatments. *Id.* at 569, 590 S.E.2d at 40-41. Specifically, the defendant challenged the reasonableness and necessity of chiropractic bills (\$1,470.00) that constituted roughly half of the plaintiff's total claimed specials (\$2,929.25). *Id.* The defendant's attorney raised that dispute both during his cross-examination of the treating chiropractor and in his arguments to the jury. *Id.* When the jury ultimately awarded a total verdict of \$2,000, the trial court granted the plaintiff's motion for additur. *Id.* at 569-70, 590 S.E.2d at 41.

In reversing the trial court's decision, this Court focused on the absence of any "compelling reasons" for granting additur. The trial court's only stated reason for

granting the motion was that the verdict was less than the plaintiff's claimed specials, which the court then listed. *Id.* at 569-70, 590 S.E.2d at 41. This fact alone, however, was not a compelling reason for disturbing the jury's verdict. As the Court explained:

Where, as here, the evidence of damages is disputed, the mere listing of [the plaintiff's] claimed damages by the trial judge in his order does not constitute compelling reasons for invading the jury's province. The order offers no reasons upon which we can review the appropriateness of usurping the jury's decision on damages.

*Id.* at 571, 590 S.E.2d at 41. Thus, the decision to grant additur was an abuse of discretion, and the Court reversed and reinstated the original verdict. *Id.* at 571, 590 S.E.2d at 42.

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