THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000163

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 04 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Henry Pressley,.....Respondent,

v.

Eric Sanders,.....Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**PALMETTO LAW CENTER, P.C.**

Page M. Kalish, S.C. Bar # 72611  
pmk@palmettolawcenter.com  
PO Box 9526  
Columbia, SC 29290  
(803) 783-4570 (p)  
(803) 776-7862 (f)  
Attorneys for the Respondent

##

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

## ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, *NISI ADDITUR*.

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court was within its authority to grant Pressley’s motion for a new trial *nisi additur*. Neither party questions whether the trial judge has the inherent authority to ensure that justice is done and when a jury verdict does not comport with the evidence and testimony presented at trial, the judge has two remedies: a new trial absolute or a new trial *nisi*. While a jury verdict is entitled to great deference, that deference is restrained by basic notions of justice. It is well settled that the trial judge has the power to grant a new trial *nisi additur* if he finds the amount of the verdict merely inadequate. The trial judge listened to the testimony and reviewed the evidence as it was presented to the jury at trial and found that the verdict was inadequate.

Sanders attempts to revise the standard of review that must be applied by appellate courts on new trial *nisi additur* motions and attempts to substitute compelling reasons as the new standard. The trial judge explained the compelling reasons why he granted the motion for a new trial *nisi additur*, which were supported by the evidence at testimony at trial. The cases that Sanders relies upon are distinguishable from the present case, so they don’t provide the guidance to overturn the trial judge’s Order. Sanders urges this Court to follow prior case law cited in his argument, specifically *Luchok v. Vena*, 391 S.C. 262, 705 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2010) and *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 590 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2003), where the facts are dissimilar to this case

presently before this Court. The trial judge's orders in those cases were deficient so they were overturned on appeal.

In *Green*, the trial judge gave no compelling reason to substantiate his ruling and did not base his ruling on the inadequacy of the jury's verdict. Appellant demands that this Court to plug in the facts of this case into *Green* and to return the same outcome. However, there are important distinctions between *Green* and the present case that is before this Court. Whereas, the chiropractor's diagnosis was challenged in *Green*, none of the treating medical providers' diagnoses were challenged in the present case. Further, no alternate cause of injury was offered.

Additionally, Sanders argues that *Luchok* is dispositive of this case. In *Luchok*, the plaintiff was the sole witness as to the medical bills. There was no medical testimony in *Luchok* as to whether the treatment was reasonable and necessary or whether it was causally related to the plaintiff's accident. The trial judge determined from the medical bills alone that the chiropractic treatment was reasonable and necessary, which was an error. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court on the grounds that the trial judge invaded the province of the jury without listing a compelling reason for taking that action.

In the present case, the following are the trial judge's compelling reasons:

1. There was no contrary testimony or evidence to dispute that the medical treatment and bills resulted from the car collision at issue in this trial. Plaintiff submitted undisputed, uncontroverted evidence of loss in the amount of his total medical bills that were \$9,658.00.
2. The testifying treating physician, Timothy M. Zgleszewski, M.D., was qualified as an expert and gave an undisputed opinion that the injuries, pain, and subsequent treatment were related to the collision. The treating physician also testified that the treatment was reasonable and necessary as were the bills incurred for treatment. There was no testimony or evidence to rebut the treating physician's testimony or opinions.
3. There was no evidence or testimony that Plaintiff ever suffered from injuries to his neck or back prior to the collision.

4. [Pressley] suffered great pain as a result of the accident.

[R., pp. 003-006.] In this case, the trial judge's order is specific in explaining why a new trial *nisi additur* was appropriate. The trial court explained that the sole testifying medical expert, Timothy M. Zgleszewski, M.D., gave an undisputed opinion that the injuries, pain, and subsequent treatment were related to the collision. The treating physician also testified that the treatment was reasonable and necessary as were the bills incurred for treatment. These opinions were stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

There was no testimony or evidence presented by Sanders to rebut the treating physician's testimony or opinions. On cross-examination, Dr. Zgleszewski conceded that it was "possible" that degenerative disease could have been caused by working as a brick mason for forty years. [R., p. 116]. But Dr. Zgleszewski was not asked whether this was the source of pain or injury from the accident. Further, Sanders never presented any testimony or evidence that Pressley's symptoms preceded the accident. The trial court found that the verdict was "inadequate in light of the evidence and testimony present at trial." [R., pp. 003-006.]

Sanders did not dispute this testimony via cross examination or by presenting adverse witnesses or evidence. Rather, his trial strategy was to downplay the severity of the impact and to attempt to illustrate the gaps in treatment. Sanders asserts that the evidence and testimony were contested. However, Sanders presented no evidence or testimony to counter Plaintiff's case in chief.

The trial court ruled in its order that "it is abundantly clear that the verdict in this case was inadequate, in light of the evidence and testimony presented at trial, and granting *nisi additur* is appropriate." Dr. Zgleszewski did not admit that it was probable or back down from his opinion that the accident was the cause of the injury and subsequent pain. Sanders argues that the evidence

and testimony was contested, even though he offered no expert testimony, because cross-examination yielded a possible alternative reason for Pressley's pain. However, there is no testimony or medical evidence to back up the theory that the degenerative disc disease caused the pain. In this case, Dr. Zgleszewski testified that the bills and treatment were fair and reasonable, and that the treatment was related to the accident. Sanders did not challenge the veracity of his opinions or his credibility in cross-examination. Further, Sanders never challenged Dr. Zgleszewski's opinion on the causal link between the accident and the injury or pain.

Sanders improperly relies upon *Steele v. Dillard*, 327 S.C. 340, 486 S.E.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Steele*, there was an issue as to contributory negligence as to liability. Defendant conceded liability in the present case. In *Steele*, the defendant presented evidence of past injuries that were similar to those claimed in his case. Finally, the issue in *Steele* was the denial of a Motion for a New Trial, *Nisi Additur*, which was upheld on the same standard, abuse of discretion, as is applicable in the present case. In *Steele*, the Court of Appeal summarized as follows:

In sum, the record provides adequate support for the jury's award because it could have found (1) Steele negligent and then offset his damages by some percentage; (2) Steele free of negligence but disagreed with his evidence as to his damages; or (3) Steele negligent and disagreed with his evidence as to his damages.

*Steele*, at 344. Unlike *Steele*, there was no dispute of liability, issues of prior accidents causing personal injury, or contradictory evidence or testimony presented in this trial.

In *O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993), there was an issue whether the Plaintiff's damages arose out of the initial car wreck or the subsequent malpractice of the treating physician. There was competing testimony from experts as to the cause and extent of impairment as well as evidence of pre-existing medical issues. Sanders did not present any evidence of a pre-existing condition or obtain testimony that contradicted the cause or extent of injury. Sanders only got Dr. Zgleszewski to say that it was possible that Pressley's career as a brick mason caused

degenerative disc disease. However, Dr. Zgleszewski never testified that it was possible that the injury or pain was caused by degenerative disc disease. To the contrary, he testified that the cause of the injury and pain arose out of the lumbosacral sprain/strain. [R., p. 097]

Pressley testified why he didn't seek further treatment from Dr. Zgleszewski. [R., pp. 045-047]. He didn't seek further treatment because he didn't want any more needles in his back or neck. He didn't like the needles because of the pain they caused and his fear. [R., p. 046]. This was the reason treatment was stopped, despite the continuing pain.

Sanders argues that the verdict of \$9,888.30, where \$5,000.00 was allocated to pain and suffering could be a finding that that the jury discounted Dr. Zgleszewski's treatment. However, the numbers don't add up to the damages presented and the verdict did not comport with the evidence or testimony that was presented at trial. The trial judge stated his compelling reasons in his Order, so it should be upheld.